

PISCICIDAL ACTIVITY AGAINST FRESHWATER FISH IN LABORATORY AND CEMENT PLASTERING POND CONDITION

Comment [e1]: Modified the topic according to research

ABSTRACT

The present study assesses piscicidal activity of (i.e., acetone, diethyl ether, ethyl alcohol, chloroform, and carbon tetrachloride) latex extracts of *Thevetia peruviana* (Pers.) L. Schum. (Family: Apocynaceae) against *Labeo rohita* (Hamilton) in both conditions. Toxicity of all the organic solvent *Thevetia peruviana* plant was time as well as dose-dependent against freshwater fish. There was a significant ($P < 0.05$) negative correlation between LC values and exposure periods. *Thevetia peruviana* plant decrease from 3.62 mgL^{-1} (24h) $> 2.69 \text{ mgL}^{-1}$ (48h) in laboratory conditions and 7.86 mgL^{-1} (24h) $> 7.24 \text{ mgL}^{-1}$ (48h) in cement plastering pond condition against fish. The same trend of toxicity was also observed in the case of other solvents i.e., diethyl ether, ethyl alcohol, chloroform, and carbon tetrachloride latex extracts of *Thevetia peruviana* against *Labeo rohita* in both conditions. *Thevetia peruviana* medicinal plant is used as a better cathartic, febrifuge useful in different kinds of intermittent fever while the latex of this plant is used in teeth cavities for relief from toothache.

Comment [e2]: Modified the sentence

Comment [e3]: Modified the sentence

Keywords: *Thevetia peruviana*; *Labeo rohita*; Latex; different organic solvent; piscicides; toxicity; laboratory and pond condition; hours.

1. INTRODUCTION

The use of natural pesticides derived from plants has recently gained popularity as a way to reduce the dangers of organic and synthetic pesticides. It is possible to substitute organic pesticides with pesticides of plant origin. Due to their biodegradability, botanical pesticides are environmentally safe and do not leave any toxic residues in the aquatic environment. Botanicals are plant extracts that are poisonous to fish and are referred to as piscicides [1]. Alkaloids such as resins,

tannins, saponins, nicotine, and diosgenin are found in piscicidal plants [2-6]. These alkaloids, however, are poisonous to fish at high quantities and wear off quickly [7-9]. *Thevetia peruviana* is also reported in piscicidal activity [10-12]. The *Labeo rohita* was chosen as the test animal because it is found in almost all freshwater reservoirs in India and can be used to monitor toxicity [13-15]. Extensive use of synthetic chemical pesticides has become an essential part of present-day agricultural practices. Indiscriminate use of synthetic pesticides by human activities causes a high risk to non-target organisms [1]. Excessive use

Comment [e4]: Modified the sentence

Comment [e5]: Modified the sentence

of pesticides results in the inflow of toxicants, mainly into the aquatic bodies [16-18]. The pesticides that have received the most attention and carbamate since they are widely used and are continuously being contaminated by the toxic wastes of chemical pesticides [19-22] and potential direct threat to freshwater organisms, particularly to sensitive animals, such as fishes and prawns [23-26].

The present work is aimed to find out acute toxicity on freshwater fish *Labeo rohita* by determining the LC_{50} values at various exposure periods in both conditions. This type of study will help to estimate the safe level dose and strengthen the baseline data by which comparative sensitivity of plant pesticides could be analyzed.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Experimental Animal

Labeo rohita (5.50 ± 0.6 cm length and 362 mg weight) were collected from the Gorakhpur district, Uttar Pradesh, India. The fishes were stocked in cement plastering stocking cemented pond containing 1000 L de-chlorinated tap water for acclimatization.

Comment [e6]: Modified the sentence

2.2 Plant

Thevetia peruviana (Apocynaceae) was collected from the Botanical Garden of D.D.U. Gorakhpur University, Gorakhpur, Uttar Pradesh, where a voucher specimen is deposited.



Fig.1. *Labeo rohita* fish



Fig.2. *Thevetia peruviana* plant

2.3 Extraction of Active Compounds

Latex was collected and lyophilized at -40°C and the lyophilized powder was used for further study. Took one gm lyophilized latex in 50 mL different solvent mix well in each solvent and left for 48h then centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 20 min. The solvent evaporated at low temperature by vacuum pump to obtain the active moiety in dried form.

2.4 Toxicity Experiments

Toxicity experiments were performed by Singh and Agarwal [27] method. 50 animals like *Labeo rohita* cement plastering pond condition in 50 L de-chlorinated tap water for 24h, 48h, 72h, 96h, and 10 animals were kept in laboratory condition in 10 L de-chlorinated tap water for 24h, 48h, 72h, 96h. Different solvent *Thevetia peruviana* ($1.5, 2.5, 3.5, 4.5 \text{ mgL}^{-1}$ in laboratory condition and 6, 7, 8, 9 mgL^{-1} in cement plastering pond condition), respectively. During the 96-hour observation period, mortality was recorded every 24 hours. The probit log approach of Russel et al., [28], was used to calculate the LC values.

2.5 Experimental Conditions of Experimental Water

The laboratory, as well as cement plastering pond toxicity of the experiment, were determined by the methods of APHA/AWWA/WPCE [29].

Parameters	Laboratory condition	Cement plastering
Atmospheric presser	30.5-31.5 $^{\circ}\text{C}$	31.6-32.8 $^{\circ}\text{C}$
water temperature	27.0-28.0 $^{\circ}\text{C}$	28.0-29.0 $^{\circ}\text{C}$
pH	7.3-7.5	7.5-7.6
dissolved oxygen	6.8-7.6 mgL^{-1}	7.2-8.3 mgL^{-1}
free carbon dioxide	4.4-6.5 mgL^{-1}	5.4-7.5 mgL^{-1}
bicarbonate alkalinity	105.0-109.0 mgL^{-1}	108.0-113.0 mgL^{-1}

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Results obtained after toxicity evaluation of latex extracts of *Thevetia peruviana* plant were tested against freshwater fish *Labeo rohita* in both conditions. The LC_{50} of the different solvents of this plant 24h to 48h of *Labeo rohita* is shown in Table 1 and 2. The calculated accuracy for the LC_{50} values is summarized in Table 1 and 2. The LC_{50} of

acetone extract of *Thevetia peruviana* 3.62 mgL^{-1} (24h) $> 2.69 \text{ mgL}^{-1}$ (48h) in laboratory conditions, 7.86 mgL^{-1} (24h) $> 7.24 \text{ mgL}^{-1}$ (48h) in cement plastering pond conditions, respectively Table 1 and 2 against freshwater fish *Labeo rohita*. The same trend of toxicity was also observed in different solvents (i.e., diethyl ether, ethyl alcohol, chloroform, and carbon tetrachloride) latex extract against the freshwater fish *Labeo rohita* in both conditions, respectively Table 1 and 2.

Different solvent latex extracts of these plants are least effective in cement plastering pond conditions in comparison to laboratory conditions against the freshwater fish *Labeo rohita*. So, the cement plastering pond condition the solvent latex extracts of the above plant doses will be very high in comparison to the laboratory condition, respectively Table 1 and 2.

Results of the toxicity of different solvent latex extracts shown in both conditions. Toxicity of freshwater fish was time and dose-dependent. The active moiety of extracts could be time-dependent, leading to a progressive increase in the titer of the active ingredient and its effect in the *Labeo rohita*, or the active moiety of extracts could be converted into more toxic metabolites in the body of the *Labeo rohita* resulting in a time-dependent effect. Result of this study is similar to those of [7,30] who reported different tolerance limits of various aquatic organisms to various piscicides. Result was also found in the case of karanj, *Pongamia pennata* seed on different fishes i.e., *Gudusia giuris*, *Chanda nama*, *Oreochromis mossambicus* [31,32]; *Maesa ramentacea* and *Sapindus emarginatus* are the most effective plants against the *Moina* sp. *Oreochromis niloticus* and *Anabas testudineus* [30] and *Euphorbia heterophylla* plant are the most effective against the fingerlings of *Barbus occidentalis* [33]. Laboratory conditions, the LC_{50} values of above plant against *Labeo rohita* were 3.62 mgL^{-1} (24h) in acetone extracts. Cement plastering pond conditions, the toxicity was 7.86 mgL^{-1} (24h).

Obviously, under cement plastering pond conditions the toxicity of above plants was reduced. The reason for reduced toxicity could be sand particle adsorption or acceleration of the toxicant degradation process by temperature [34]. A same trend was reported by Perchbacher and Sarkar, [35] in which the toxicity persistence of *Masea ramentacea* and tea seed cake was short and fish could be stocked into ponds 4 days after applying the pesticides. The potential for using *Masea ramentacea* as a substitute for tea seed cake for killing predatory fish in freshwater has been shown; however, the effective concentration must be

Comment [e9]: Modified the sentence

Comment [e7]: Modified the sentence

Comment [e10]: Modified the sentence

Comment [e8]: Correct the sentence

determined against the predatory air-breathing fish, such as *Clarias* sp. *Ophicephalus striatus* and *Anabas testudineus* are generally more tolerant of toxicants than other fishes [35].

In the present investigation, the LC₅₀ values given in the Table 1 and 2 were steep and the heterogeneity factor was less than 1.0 indicating that the result was

found to be 95% confidence limit of LC₅₀ values. The regression test ('t' ratio) was greater than 1.96 at all the probability levels. The dosage mortality graphs show steep values [36]. The steepness of the slope line implies that there is a significant rise in *Labeo rohita* mortality with a relatively little increase in toxicant concentration.

Comment [e11]: Modified the sentence

Table 1. Lethal dose and concentration of *Thevetia peruviana* to freshwater fish *Labeo rohita* in laboratory condition

Solvents	Exposure periods	Effectivedose (mg/L)	Limits(mg/L)		Slopevalue	't'ratio	Heterogeneity
			LCL	UCL			
Acetone	24h	LC ₁₀ =1.22	2.49	5.17	2.70±0.51	3.18	0.16
		LC ₅₀ =3.62					
		LC ₉₀ =10.82					
		LC ₁₀ =0.91					
	48h	LC ₅₀ =2.69	1.52	3.61	2.72±0.48	3.24	0.14
		LC ₉₀ =7.98					
		LC ₁₀ =1.62					
		LC ₅₀ =4.08					
Diethylether	24h	LC ₉₀ =10.25	3.09	5.66	3.20±0.57	3.48	0.11
		LC ₁₀ =1.27					
		LC ₅₀ =3.36					
		LC ₉₀ =8.93					
	48h	LC ₁₀ =1.58	2.35	4.47	3.02±0.51	3.50	0.30
		LC ₅₀ =5.18					
		LC ₉₀ =16.91					
		LC ₁₀ =1.21					
Ethyl alcohol	24h	LC ₅₀ =3.62	2.49	5.16	2.69±0.50	3.18	0.16
		LC ₉₀ =10.81					
		LC ₁₀ =1.71					
		LC ₅₀ =4.22					
Chloroform	24h	LC ₉₀ =10.41	3.24	5.91	3.26±0.58	3.50	0.22
		LC ₁₀ =1.21					
		LC ₅₀ =3.23					
		LC ₉₀ =8.64					
	48h	LC ₁₀ =1.70	2.22	4.28	3.00±0.50	3.49	0.15
		LC ₅₀ =4.59					
		LC ₉₀ =12.35					
		LC ₁₀ =1.21					
Carbon tetrachloride	24h	LC ₅₀ =3.62	2.49	5.16	2.70±0.51	3.18	0.16
		LC ₉₀ =10.81					
		LC ₁₀ =1.21					
		LC ₅₀ =3.62					

- Batches of 10 fishes were exposed to four different concentrations of *Thevetia peruviana* plant.
- Concentrations given are the final concentrations (w/v) in laboratory conditions.
- Regression coefficients showed that there was a significant ($P < 0.05$) negative correlation between exposure time and different LC values.
- LCL=Lower confidence limit; UCL=Upper confidence limit.

Table 2. Lethal dose and concentration of *Thevetia peruviana* to freshwater fish *Labeo rohita* in cement plastering pond condition

Solvents	Exposure periods	Effectivedose (mg/L)	Limits(mg/L)		Slopevalue	't'ratio	Heterogeneity
			LCL	UCL			
Acetone	24h	LC ₁₀ =5.50	6.89	8.71	8.25±1.96	3.86	0.05
		LC ₅₀ =7.86					
		LC ₉₀ =11.24					
		LC ₁₀ =4.96					
	48h	LC ₅₀ =7.24	6.00	8.04	7.81±1.94	3.64	0.12

Solvents	Exposure periods	Effective dose	Limits (mg/L)		Slope value	't' ratio	Heterogeneity
		(mg/L)	LCL	UCL			
Diethylether	24h	LC ₉₀ =10.56					
		LC ₁₀ =5.79					
		LC ₅₀ = 8.49	7.53	9.61	7.71±1.97	3.63	0.05
		LC ₉₀ =12.44					
Ethylalcohol	48h	LC ₁₀ =5.04					
		LC ₅₀ = 7.80	6.51	8.82	6.75±1.86	3.34	0.09
		LC ₉₀ =12.08					
		LC ₁₀ =5.91					
Chloroform	24h	LC ₅₀ = 8.77	7.80	10.10	7.47±1.98	3.53	0.15
		LC ₉₀ =13.02					
		LC ₁₀ =5.29					
		LC ₅₀ = 7.95	6.83	8.94	7.23±1.89	3.53	0.11
Carbon tetrachloride	48h	LC ₉₀ =11.96					
		LC ₁₀ =5.10					
		LC ₅₀ = 8.50	7.18	10.27	5.77±1.83	2.93	0.08
		LC ₉₀ =14.18					
	24h	LC ₁₀ =4.57					
		LC ₅₀ = 7.58	5.84	8.71	5.82±1.80	2.97	0.09
		LC ₉₀ =12.58					
		LC ₁₀ =6.07					
	48h	LC ₅₀ = 9.22	8.21	11.15	7.05±1.99	3.32	0.02
		LC ₉₀ =14.02					
		LC ₁₀ =5.32					
		LC ₅₀ = 8.34	7.18	9.65	6.57±1.87	3.26	0.05
		LC ₉₀ =13.07					

- Batches of 50 fishes were exposed to four different concentrations of *Thevetia peruviana* plant.
- Concentrations given are the final concentrations (w/v) in pond conditions.
- Regression coefficients showed that there was a significant ($P < 0.05$) negative correlation between exposure time and different LC values.
- LCL=Lower confidence limit; UCL=Upper confidence limit.

4. CONCLUSION

The test species, *Labeo rohita* has shown a differential toxicity level with the function of period in the current study. Toxicity assessment LC₅₀ values and behavioural changes in fish are particularly sensitive markers of pesticide toxicity. The fish's overall health is affected by the behavioural changes.

REFERENCES

- Burkill HN. The useful plants of West Africa (tropical) Edition 2. Families A.D. Royal Botanical Garden, Kew. 1985;1.
- Voigtlander HW. Balsam G. Apigenin-5-methyl ether ein neues Flavon aus, *Thevetia peruviana*. Arch. and Pharmacol. 1970;303:792.
- Wang S. Huffman JB. Botanochemicals: Supplements to petrochemicals. Eco. Bot. 1991;35:369-382.
- Singh SK. Yadav RP. Singh A. Piscicidal activity of leaf and extract bark of *Thevetia peruviana* plant and their biochemical stress response on fish metabolism. European Revi. for Med. and Pharmacol. Sci. 2010;14(11):915-923.
- Singh SK. Singh SK. Singh A. Toxicological and biochemical alterations of apigenin extracted from seed of *Thevetia peruviana*, a medicinal plant. J. of Biol. and Ear. Sci. 2013;3(1):B110-B119.
- Bansode SB. Patil RD. Toxicity of neem-based insecticide Bioneem (Azadirachtin) to fresh water fish *Gara mullya* (Sykes). J. of Entomol. and Zoo. Stu. 2016;4(5):1013-1015.
- Kulakkattolichal AT. Piscicidal plants of Nepal: Toxicity to air-breathing predatory fish (*Ophiocephalus punctatus*, *Clarias batrachus*

- and *Heteropneustes fossilis*) and the duration of risk to cultivated fish. *Aquaculture*. 1989;78:285-292.
8. Adewumi CO. Plant molluscicides: Potential of *Aridan*, *Tetrapleura tetraptera* for schistosomiasis control in Nigeria. *Sci. of Tot. Environ.* 1991;102:21-33.
 9. Obomanu FG, Ogbalu OK, Gabriel UU, Fekarurhobo SGK, Abadi SU. Piscicidal effects of *Lepulagathis alopecuroides* on mudskipper, *Periophthalmus papillio* from the Niger Delta. *Res. J Appl. Sci.* 2007;2(4):382-387.
 10. Oti EE. Acute toxicity of water extracts of bark of the *Thevetia peruviana* to the African freshwater catfish *Heteroclinus hybrid* fingerling. *J. of Fish Tech.* 2003;2:124-130.
 11. Oti EE, Ukpabi UH. Acute toxicity of water extracts of bark of yellow oleander, *Thevetia peruviana* (Lodd) to Mormyrids *Hyperopisus bebe occidentalis* (Gunther). *J. of Appl. Aqua.* 2005;16:183-190.
 12. Singh D, Singh A. The toxicity of four native Indian plants: Effect on AChE and acid/alkaline phosphatase level in fish *Channa marulius*. *Chemo.* 2005;60:135-140.
 13. Ashraf M, Jafar M, Tariq J. Annual variation of selected trace metals in freshwater fish *Labeo rohita* as an index of environmental pollution. *Toxicol. Environ. Chem.* 1992;35:1-7.
 14. Mohapatra BC, Sovan Sahu. Toxicity of Karanj, *Pongamia pinnata* seed on different fishes. The 5th Indian Fisheries Forum. 17-20 January 2000. CIFA Bhubneshwar. 2000.
 15. Sarvanan TS, Mohamed MA, Chandrasekar R, Sundramoorthy M. Freshwater fishes as indicators of Kaveri River pollution. *J. of Environ. Biol.* 2003;24:381-389.
 16. Minelli EV, Reberio ML. DDT and HCH residues in the blood serum of malaria control sprayer. *Bull. of Environ. Conta. and Toxicol.* 1996;57:691-696.
 17. Dua VK, Pant CS, Sharma VP, Pathak GK. Determination of HCH and DDT in finger-prick whole blood dried on filter papers and its field application for monitoring concentrations in blood. *Bull. Environ. Conta. Toxicol.* 1998;56:50-57.
 18. Waliszewski SM, Aguirre AA, Benitez A, Infanzon RM, Infanzon R, Rivera J. Organopesticides residues in human blood serum of inhabitants of Veracruz, Mexico. *Bull. of Environ. Conta. and Toxicol.* 1999;62:397-402.
 19. Bourgeois DP, Gaudet J, Deveau P, Maller N. Micro extraction of organophosphorous pesticides from environmental water and analysis by gas chromatography. *Bull. Environ. Conta. Toxicol.* 1993;50:433-440.
 20. Nayak AK, Raha R, Das AK. Organochlorine pesticides in middle stream of the Ganga River, India. *Bull. Environ. Conta. Toxicol.* 1995;54:68-76.
 21. Nair JR, Sherief PM. Acute toxicity of phenol and long-term effect on food consumption and growth of juvenile rohu *Labeo rohita* (Ham.) under tropical conditions. *Asian Fish. Sci.* 1998;10:179-187.
 22. Farag, MR, Alagawany M, Bilal RM, Gewida AGA, Dhama K, Abdel-Latif HMR, Amer MS, Rivero-Perez N, Zaragoza-Bastida A, Binnaser YS. An Overview on the Potential Hazards of Pyrethroid Insecticides in Fish, with Special Emphasis on Cypermethrin Toxicity. *Animals.* 2021;11(1880):1-17.
 23. Sarvanan TS, Mohamed MA, Chandrasekar R, Sundramoorthy M. Freshwater fishes as indicators of Kaveri River pollution. *J. Environ. Biol.* 2003;24:381-389.
 24. Selvarani D, Rajamanickam C. Toxicity of PCB 1232 on mitochondria of fish *Arius caelatus* (Valenciennes). *Indian J. of Exp. Biol.* 2003;41:336-340.
 25. Park D, Minor MD, Propper CR. Toxic response of endo-sulfan to breeding and non-breeding female mosquito fish. *J. of Environ. Biol.* 2004;25:119-124.
 26. Kumari P, Paul DK. Bioremedial effect of turmeric (*Curcuma longa*) on haematological and biochemical parameters against fenvalerate induced toxicity in air-breathing fish *Clarias batrachus*. *Int. J. Aquac. Fish. Sci.* 2020;6(2):056-060.
 27. Singh A, Agarwal R.A. Possibility of using latex of euphorbiales for snail control. *The Sci. of Tot. Environ.* 1988;77:231-236.
 28. Russel RM, Robertson JL, Savin NE. POLO: A new computer program for probit analysis. *Bull. of Intern. Soci. of America.* 1977;23:209-213.
 29. APHA AWWA WPCE. Standard method for the examination of water and waste water. 16th Ed. APHA, Washington. 1998.
 30. Chiayuaresajja S, Chiayuaresajja I, Rittibhombhun W, Wiryachitra P. The toxicity of five native Thai plants to aquatic organisms. *Asian Fish. Sci.* 1997;9:261-267.
 31. Mohapatra BC, Nayak GB. Assessment of toxicity of ripe fruit pulp of Hingan, *Balanites roxburghii*, on different fishes. *Aquacul.* 1998;6:19-21.
 32. Mohapatra BC, Sovan Sahu A. Toxicity of Karanj, *Pongamia pinnata* seed on different

- fishes. The 5th Indian Fisheries Forum. 17-20 January, CIFA Bhubneshwar. 2000.
33. Dan Ologe IA. Sogbesan OA. Piscicidal potential of dried *Euphorbia heterophylla* (L.) stem water extract on *Barbus occidentalis* (Pisces: Cyprinidae) (Boulenger, 1920) fingerlings. Res. J. of Environ. Toxicol. 2007;1(4):191-197.
 34. Dawson VK. Gingerichand WH. Davis RA. GilderhusPA. Rotenon persistence in freshwater ponds: effects of temperature and sediment adsorption. North American J. of Fish Manag. 1991;11(2):226-231.
 35. PerchbacherPW. SarkarJ. Toxicity of selected pesticides to the snakehead, *Channa punctatus*. Asian Fish. Sci. 1992;2:249-254.
 36. Rand GM. Petrocelli SR. Fundamentals of aquatic toxicology. Hemisphere Publishing Corporation, New York. 1988;1129.

UNDER PEER REVIEW